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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
V.

CASE NO. 21-CR-092 (TNM)

COUY GRIFFIN,

Defendant.

UNITED STATES’ TRIAL BRIEF

The United States, by and through its attorneys, respectfully submits this brief summarizing
the government’s evidence at trial and various legal issues likely to be brought before the Court.
L. THE JANUARY 6 CAPITOL RIOT AND THE DEFENDANT’S ACTIONS

On January 6, 2021, thousands of people descended on the U.S. Capitol building and
grounds when a joint session of Congress had convened to certify the votes of the Electoral College
for the 2020 Presidential Election. Vice President Michael Pence, as the President of the Senate,
was there to preside over the joint session and, later, the Senate proceedings. On that day, physical
barriers surrounded the U.S. Capitol building and grounds. At all relevant times, the United States
Capitol building and its grounds—including the inaugural stage on the Lower West Terrace on the
West Front—were closed to members of the public.

The defendant, Couy Griffin, was among those thousands who illegally entered the U.S.
Capitol grounds that day. The defendant and his associate, Matthew Struck, walked from the
downtown mall, over several barriers, and up an internal staircase to ultimately enter the inaugural
stage that was in the process of being constructed on the Lower West Terrace of the Capitol

building. In doing so, the defendant violated 18 U.S.C 1752(a)(1) and 1752(a)(2).
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II. THE GOVERNMENT’S PROOF

With this filing, the government aims to streamline the presentation of evidence in the trial
and focus the legal issues before this Court. The government intends to call three primary
witnesses—an Inspector from the U.S. Capitol Police, an Inspector from the U.S. Secret Service,
and an immunized witness who was with the defendant before, during, and after the events of
January 6, 2021. The government also expects to present video evidence of the defendant’s own
statements and actions in Washington, D.C. on January 5 and 6, and the defendant’s statements
when back in New Mexico on January 14. This presentation will prove the charged offenses
beyond a reasonable doubt.

A. Elements of the Crimes Alleged

The Information charges two offenses under 18 U.S.C. § 1752. The elements of those
offenses are as follows.

Count One of the Information charges the defendant with entering or remaining in a
restricted building or grounds, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(1). In order to find the defendant
guilty of this offense, the Court must find that the government proved each of the following
elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

1. First, that the defendant entered or remained in a restricted building or grounds
without lawful authority to do so.
2. Second, that the defendant did so knowingly.

The term “restricted building or grounds” means any posted, cordoned off, or otherwise

restricted area of a building or grounds where a person protected by the Secret Service is or will

be temporarily visiting.

2
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The term “person protected by the Secret Service” includes the Vice President and the
immediate family of the Vice President.

A person acts “knowingly” if he realizes what he is doing and is aware of the nature of
his conduct, and does not act through ignorance, mistake, or accident. In deciding whether the
defendant knowingly entered or remained in a restricted building or grounds, the Court may
consider all of the evidence, including what the defendant did or said.’

Count Two of the Information charges the defendant with disorderly or disruptive
conduct in a restricted building or grounds, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(2). In order to
find the defendant guilty of this offense, the Court must find that the government proved each of
the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

1. First, that the defendant engaged in disorderly or disruptive conduct in, or in
proximity to, any restricted building or grounds.

2. Second, that the defendant did so knowingly, and with the intent to impede or
disrupt the orderly conduct of Government business or official functions.

3. Third, that the defendant’s conduct occurred when, or so that, his conduct in fact
impeded or disrupted the orderly conduct of Government business or official
functions.

“Disorderly conduct” occurs when a person is unreasonably loud and disruptive under the
circumstances, or interferes with another person by jostling against or unnecessarily crowding

that person.

! See Seventh Circuit Pattern Criminal Jury Instructions; see also Arthur Andersen LLP v.

United States, 544 U.S. 696, 705 (2005).

3
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“Disruptive conduct” is a disturbance that interrupts an event, activity, or the normal
course of a process.?

The terms “restricted building or grounds” and “knowingly” have the same meanings
described in the instructions for Count One.

B. Matthew Struck’s Videos and Testimony

Matthew Struck accompanied the defendant to Washington, D.C. and served as the
videographer for the defendant, including on January 6. At trial, the government expects Matthew
Struck’s testimony and videos will provide a precise picture of the defendant’s actions and his
intentions. Struck has been granted immunity to testify at trial.

On January 5, 2021, the defendant and Struck arrived in Washington, D.C. Upon their
arrival, Struck took a video of the defendant in a parking lot in front of the U.S. Capitol building.
During that video, the defendant talked about the purpose of their visit in D.C., for what the
defendant believed would be “possibly the most historic day for our country in my lifetime.” The
defendant stated that he and many others were praying for Vice President Mike Pence and “trust
that [he] will do the right thing.” Behind the defendant was the West Front of the Capitol grounds,
surrounded by bike racks bearing signs saying “Area Closed,” cordoning off the perimeter of the
area the defendant would breach the next day.

On January 6, 2021, the defendant attended President Trump’s rally on the National Mall
between the Ellipse and the Washington Monument. Following the rally, the defendant and Struck
walked towards the Capitol. When they reached the Capitol grounds at approximately 2:30 p.m.,

many metal barricades had been moved and a large crowd had already entered the restricted area.

2 Redbook 6.643.
4
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Griffin climbed over a stone wall and entered the lawn on the West Front of the Capitol,
within the restricted area. He turned to another individual and stated, “This is our house ... we
should all be armed.” Griffin then climbed over a metal barricade surrounding the West Front and
entered the area below the inauguration platform.

As Griffin climbed the hidden stairway to the inauguration stage, which was under
construction on the Lower West Terrace, he said, “I love the smell of napalm in the air,”
referencing a quote from Apocalypse Now as he appeared to cover his mouth and nose from the
acrid smell of oleoresin capsicum spray. Griffin then boosted himself up onto the front railing of
the inaugural stage, turned to Struck’s camera and said, “can we do it live?” Griffin asked again,
“are we live?” and addressed his video audience saying, “It’s a great day for America. The people
are showing that they have had enough. People are ready for fair and legal elections, or this is
what you’re gonna get and you’re gonna get more of it.” Another individual stated, “We came
peacefully,” but “we are well armed if we need to be.” Griffin responded, “And we’re not going
anywhere, we aren’t taking no for an answer. We’re not gonna get our election stolen from us
from China. This is an America that’s had enough right here.” Griffin spent over an hour perched
on the front railing of the inaugural stage being filmed by Struck. During this time, Griffin joined
those around him in chanting “We . . . the people!,” and later shouted through a bullhorn, waiving
his arms and asking the crowd below to kneel and listen as he led them in prayer.

C. The Defendant’s Statements at the County Commission Meeting

Not only will the Court see video evidence of the defendant’s actions on January 6, 2021,
but it will hear the defendant describing those actions a week later. On January 14, 2021, the
defendant appeared at an Otero County Commissioners’ meeting, as a part of his official duties,

and discussed the events of January 6, 2021. This County Commissioners’ meeting was streamed

5

Plaintiffs' Exhibit 4 - Page 5 of 15



Case 1:21-cr-00092-TNM Document 90 Filed 03/17/22 Page 6 of 15

live on YouTube and captured by law enforcement as evidence in this case. Several of the
defendant’s statements in the recording of the meeting constitute either direct admissions that he
was illegally present in a restricted area or evidence of the defendant’s state of mind during and
after January 6, 2021.

The government plans to introduce these statements at trial, which are admissible as non-
hearsay under Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d)(2)(A) (Opposing party’s statements are not
hearsay).

D. Compilation Exhibits About January 6, 2021 Events at the U.S. Capitol

Although the defendant is only one participant and remained outside the Capitol building
itself on January 6, evidence of the broader context of the events of the day is both relevant to and
probative of the alleged offenses.

Capitol Police Testimony and CCTV Video Compilation

The government intends to introduce evidence through a U.S. Capitol Police inspector
familiar with the Capitol Police procedures leading up to January 6, 2021, including the security
measures put in place. The inspector is also familiar with the approximately 1600 cameras present
at the U.S. Capitol building and grounds. From the videos created by those cameras on January 6,
2021, the government has developed a comprehensive exhibit covering the events of the day.

As the Certification proceeding at the Capitol began, a large crowd gathered outside the
U.S. Capitol. Officers with the United States Capitol Police and the Metropolitan Police
Department attempted to keep the crowd away from the building, but the crowd broke through
several barriers on the West front just before 1:00 pm. Another crowd gathered on the East Plaza
of the building, encroaching on the area where the motorcade that brought Vice President Pence

to the Capitol was located. Shortly before 2:00 p.m., the crowd on the West Front broke into the

6
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scaffolding, which was set up to construct the inauguration stage. At 2:13 p.m., individuals in the
crowd forced entry into the U.S. Capitol building itself on the West side near the Senate. In
response to this intrusion, representatives, senators, and Vice President Pence evacuated their
respective chambers around 2:20 p.m. For the next two hours, rioters flooded the building and the
grounds, while police attempted to clear them out. The police finally cleared the Lower West
Terrace of the Capitol at approximately 5:10 p.m.

Congressional Proceeding Montage and Congressional Record

The government also expects to submit the official Congressional Record for both the
Senate and the House of Representatives on January 6, 2021. Additionally, the government plans
to submit video from both the House and Senate recording studios, which will demonstrate that
the official government business of the day was disrupted by the rioters. This evidence has been
compiled into a summary exhibit to show the Court the timeline of the proceedings and the length
of the disruption.

The government expects the defense to object to these compilation exhibits under Rules
401 and 403 of the Federal Rules of Evidence. Evidence about the official proceeding, and its
disruption, as well of the actions of Capitol Police with respect to the rioters, is relevant to the
charges in two respects. First, for Count Two, the government must prove that the defendant
engaged in “disorderly or disruptive conduct” in a restricted area “when . . . such conduct, in fact,
impedes or disrupts the orderly conduct of Government business or official functions.” 18 U.S.C.
§ 1752(a)(2). The compilation exhibits establish how and when the disruption occurred. Second,

for Counts One and Two, the government must prove the defendant knowingly engaged in certain

7
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conduct in a restricted area.’

The compilation establishes that element by showing law
enforcement efforts, both before and during the breach of the restricted area, to keep unauthorized
persons out of the restricted area.

Additionally, any objection under Rule 403 grounded in “unfair prejudice” has “no logical
application to bench trials.” Gulf States Utilities Co. v. Ecodyne Corp., 635 F.2d 517, 519 (5th Cir.
1981). Rule 403 “assumes a trial judge is able to discern and weigh the improper inferences that a
jury might draw from certain evidence, and then balance those improprieties against probative
value and necessity,” and “can also exclude those improper inferences from his mind in reaching
a decision.” Id.; see also Schultz v. Butcher, 24 F.3d 626, 632 (4th Cir. 1994) (“[I]n the context of
a bench trial, evidence should not be excluded under 403 on the ground that it is unfairly
prejudicial.”).

E. Testimony Regarding the Former Vice President

The government intends to introduce testimony from an inspector with the U.S. Secret
Service who was assigned to the detail of former Vice President Mike Pence on January 6, 2021,
and can testify about his whereabouts on that day.

On January 18, 2022, the government filed a Motion in Limine to limit the cross-
examination of any Secret Service witness at trial in order to avoid public disclosure of sensitive
details concerning the operations of the Secret Service and its protection of high-level officials at
the U.S. Capitol. ECF 72. The government requested a reasonable limitation on the cross-

examination in order to avoid inquiry into sensitive matters that are not required elements of the

crimes charged. Specifically, the government requested that the Court preclude inquiry into the

3 A defendant may violate 18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(2) by engaging in disruptive conduct (with the
appropriate mens rea) while “within such proximity” to a restricted area. The proof in this case
will establish that the defendant was “in” the restricted area, not merely in close proximity to it.

8
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following: “Information related to the location within the Capitol or its grounds to which the Vice
President and his family, or their motorcade, were taken once the riot began on January 6, 2021.”
(ECF No. 72, at 2). As discussed in the government’s Motion in Limine, those details are not
necessary to establish the offenses charged. The government’s Motion in Limine remains pending.

On February 16, 2022, the defendant filed a motion seeking to subpoena a Secret Service
witness. The government did not oppose the Defendant’s motion, and on March 9, 2022, the Court
issued a minute order denying the defendant’s motion as moot and stating the following:

MINUTE ORDER as to COUY GRIFFIN: The Court has reviewed the Defendant’s [79]

Motion for Rule 17(b), (d) Subpoena. If the Government wishes to proceed on Count One

of the [85] Third Amended Information, it is hereby ORDERED to have a witness

present at trial who can speak based on first-hand knowledge as to the whereabouts of
former Vice President Pence during the alleged offense conduct. The motion is otherwise

DENIED as moot. SO ORDERED.

The government intends to proceed on Counts One and Two of the Third Amended Information
and, pursuant to the Court’s minute order, a Secret Service Inspector, who, as noted, has first-hand
knowledge of the Vice President’s location during the crimes charged, will be available to testify
at trial.

For the reasons set out in the government’s pending Motion in Limine, the Defendant
should be precluded from cross-examining the witness regarding the details of the Vice President’s
secure location. Given the sensitivity of this information and the fact that details regarding the
undisclosed location within the Capitol where the Vice President and his family remained during

the breach of the Capitol (1) are not necessary to establish the crimes charged and (2) implicate

9
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national security considerations, the government reiterates its request that the Defendant be
precluded from cross-examination concerning the details of the Vice President’s specific location.

Indeed, this information is so sensitive and important to the security of Secret Service
protectees that any Secret Service witness who testifies in this case will not answer any questions
about the precise location of the emergency relocation site to which the Vice President was taken
on January 6, 2021. To require any witness to testify to such facts would compromise the mission
of the Secret Service and would put the government in the untenable position of trying to prosecute
a statute aimed at protecting a Head of State, while simultaneously compromising the future
security of a Head of State.

An amendment to the Information that aligns it more closely with the relevant statutory
language further establishes that the Vice President’s exact location at the time that the Defendant
entered the Capitol grounds is irrelevant to the charged conduct. Section 1752 requires the
government to prove that the Defendant entered a “restricted area of a building or grounds,” which
includes an area in which a person protected by the Secret Service is or will be temporarily visiting.
18 U.S.C. § 1752(c)(1)(B). Thus, the statute requires only that the government prove that the Secret
Service protectee was or would be visiting the building or grounds associated with the restricted
area. The Third Amended Information tracks that statutory language. ECF 85.

Therefore, the government is not required to prove that at the exact moment the defendant
entered the restricted area, the Vice President was also in the restricted area. The government is
required to prove only that a Secret Service protectee was or would be in the restricted building or
grounds into which the defendant entered or on which the defendant remained. In this case, Vice
President Pence was, in fact, within the restricted area throughout the Capitol breach. And even if

the government offered no evidence as to the Vice President’s exact location at the time of the

10
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defendant’s offense, the public record makes clear that Vice President Pence was in the Senate
Chamber in the early afternoon on January 6 and returned to the Senate Chamber for the
proceedings in the evening on January 6, 2021. This alone establishes that the Capitol Building
and Grounds were a restricted area at the time of the charged offense because, at the very least, it
was a location where the Vice President “will be temporarily visiting.”
III. LEGAL ISSUES BASED ON ANTICIPATED DEFENSES

Based on the defendant’s previous arguments and pre-trial filings, as well as the nature of
the evidence in this case, the government anticipates that the defendant may pursue certain
defenses at trial. Legal issues presented by these anticipated defenses, none of which undermines
the proof in this case, are previewed below.

A. The Capitol Grounds Was Restricted on the Afternoon of January 6 Because
the Vice President Was and Would Be Visiting That Location, Regardless of
the Precise Time of the Defendant’s Breach.

In several filings, the defendant has attempted to add an additional element for the
government to prove at trial. Consistent with the plain language of Section 1752(c)(1)(B), for each
count in the Third Amended Information, the government is required to prove that the defendant
entered a “restricted area within the United States Capitol and its grounds, where the Vice President
was and would be temporarily visiting.” ECF 85. The Information, tracking the statute, requires
only that the government prove that the Vice President was or would be visiting the restricted area
in the Capitol or grounds. The government expects the testimony at trial to show that former Vice
President Pence remained in the restricted area from the time he began presiding over the Electoral
College certification process in the Senate beginning at approximately 1:00 p.m. to the time he

returned to the Senate chamber at approximately 8:06 p.m. That testimony satisfies the element

11
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requiring the government to prove that the former Vice President was or would be visiting the
restricted area of the Capitol or grounds at the time the defendant entered the restricted area.

The defendant has argued in prior pleadings that, at the time he entered the restricted area,
the Vice President was in a parking garage that was outside the restricted area. ECF No. 66 at 5.
This claim is inaccurate, and, as consistent with the Court’s minute order denying as moot the
defendant’s motion to subpoena a Secret Service witness, the government will have a witness
present at trial who can say unequivocally that the Vice President remained within the restricted
area throughout the defendant’s offense conduct. However, as discussed above, this is not a
required element of the offenses charged, and the government need not offer proof that the Vice
President was actually present within the restricted area in order to establish a violation.

The defendant further claims that Court should apply the definition of the U.S. Capitol in
40 U.S.C. 5101 to the term “United States Capitol” in the government’s Information. ECF No. 66
at 5-6. The defendant argues that because this definition distinguishes between the Capitol building
and areas that are below ground, including subways and the office building garages, the
underground areas are not considered part of the Capitol building. /d. Therefore, the defendant
argues, if the Vice President was in an underground location, he could not have been within the
United States Capitol as it is defined in Title 40. 1d.

That claim fails. The defendant is not charged with a Title 40 offense, and the definition
of the United States Capitol in Title 40 is inapplicable to Section 1752. Section 1752 requires only
that the Secret Service protectee was within the restricted area or a building or grounds associated
with the restricted area. The Information includes “any posted, cordoned-off, and otherwise
restricted area within the United States Capitol and its grounds, where the Vice President was and

would be temporarily visiting...” There is nothing in the text of the statute or the charges that

12
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suggest the topographical limitation that the defendant has asked the Court to apply. And the
government anticipates that witnesses will testify that all Capitol structures that fell within the
restricted perimeter on January 6 constituted the restricted “building or grounds” for purposes of
Section 1752.
B. The Defendant Need Only Intend to Enter the Restricted Area Knowing That
He Did Not Have Lawful Authority to Do So, and the Government Need not
Prove that he had Knowledge of the Vice President’s Presence.

The “knowingly” element of 18 U.S.C. 1752 requires the government to prove that the
defendant was aware that he entered and remained in a restricted area and that he knew he did so
without lawful authority. The evidence at trial will make that showing. On January 14, 2021, the
defendant stated in a video-recorded statement that he observed barricades and fencing on the West
Front and was told that he could not enter that area due to the construction of the inauguration
platform. This will prove that the defendant knowingly entered a restricted area.

The defendant may argue that the government is also required to prove that the defendant
knew that the Vice President was at the Capitol at the time of his entry, or knew the Vice President
would return to the Senate chamber following his departure from the grounds. That argument is
incorrect. Section 1752 does not require the government to prove that the defendant knew why a
“restricted building or grounds” was restricted. The “knowingly” adverb in Section 1752(a)
modifies the actus reus in each Count—entering or remaining without lawful authority in Count
One (§ 1752(a)(1)), engaging in disorderly or disruptive conduct in Count Two (§ 1752(a)(2))—
but does not attach to 18 U.S.C. § 1752(c), which defines the term “restricted building or grounds™
in one of three possible ways. How to define a restricted area for purposes of 18 U.S.C. § 1752
has “nothing to do with the wrongfulness of the defendant’s conduct,” and thus is “not subject to

the presumption in favor of scienter.” Rehaif v. United States, 139 S. Ct. 2191, 2196 (2019); see

13
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United States v. Bursey, 416 F.3d 301, 309 (4th Cir. 2005). It therefore follows that Section 1752
does not require the government to prove the defendant knew either that the restricted area on
January 6 was restricted because of the Vice President’s presence or where within the restricted
area the Vice President was.

In any event, the defendant’s own statements show that he was well aware that Vice
President Pence was present at the Capitol on January 6. In a video filmed on January 5, 2021, the
defendant makes a reference to the Vice President presiding over the Electoral College
certification, while standing directly in front of the Capitol building. And, in the County
Commissioners’ meeting on January 14, 2021, the defendant states that he was aware that “Mike
Pence had certified a fraudulent election,” before he walked towards the Capitol grounds. Thus,
even under the defendant’s flawed interpretation of what Section 1752 requires, evidence would

still establish his guilt.

IV.  CONCLUSION

The defendant joined the mob that entered the area restricted on January 6, 2021 for the
safety and security of the Vice President of the United States. At trial, the evidence will prove he
acted with knowledge and willfulness when taking those actions on January 6, 2021, and the

government will prove his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

Dated: March 17, 2022

Respectfully Submitted,
MATTHEW M. GRAVES
United States Attorney

14
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By: /s/
Janani Iyengar
NY Bar No. 5225990
Kimberly L. Paschall
D.C. Bar No. 1015665
Assistant United States Attorneys
555 Fourth Street, N.W., Room 4237
Washington, DC 20530
Janani.iyengar@usdoj.gov
(202) 252-7760

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this date, I electronically filed the foregoing pleading with
the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system, which will send notification of such filing to the

attorneys of record for the defendants.

Dated: March 17, 2022

By: /s/
Janani lyengar
NY Bar No. 5225990
Kimberly L. Paschall
D.C. Bar No. 1015665
Assistant United States Attorneys
555 Fourth Street, N.W., Room 4237
Washington, DC 20530
Janani.iyengar@usdoj.gov
(202) 252-7760
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AO91 (Rev. 11/11) Criminal Complaint

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

District of Columbia

United States of America ) ]
V. y  Case: 1:21-mj-00092
COUY GRIFEIN ) Ass!gned To :_Farqu, Zia M.
DOB: XX/XX/XXXX )  Assign. Date : 1/16/2021
' )  Description: Complaint w/ Arrest Warrant
)
)
Defendant(s)
CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
I, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.
On or about the date(s) of January 6, 2021 in the county of in the
District of Columbia , the defendant(s) violated:
Code Section Offense Description
18 U.S.C. 1752 (a)(1) Knowingly Entering or Remaining in any Restricted Building or Grounds

Without Lawful Authority

This criminal complaint is based on these facts:

See attached statement of facts.

# Continued on the attached sheet.
Sl 5

Complainant’s signature

Detective Scott Brown, MPD

Printed name and title

Attested to by the applicant in accordance with the requirements of Fed. R. Crim. P. 4.1 by

Telephone (specify reliable electronic means). _ 2{ e Zia M. Faruqui

Date: 01/15/2021 57&-/ 2021.01.15 22:05:19-05'00
Judge’s signature

City and state: Washington, District of Columbia Zia M. Faruqui, U.S. Magistrate Judge

Printed name and title
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Case 1:21-cr-00092-TNM  Document 1-1  5a66.74-51 - mi-00092

Assigned To : Faruqui, Zia M.
Assign. Date : 1/16/2021
Description: Complaint w/ Arrest Warrant

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 6, 2021, your affiant, Detective Scott Brown, was on duty and performing my
official duties as a Metropolitan Police Department Detective. Specifically, I am assigned to the
Narcotics and Special Investigation Division, and detailed to the FBI’s Safe Streets Task Force.
Since January 6, 2021, your affiant has been tasked with investigating criminal activity in and
around the Capitol grounds.

The U.S. Capitol is secured 24 hours a day by U.S. Capitol Police. Only authorized people
with appropriate identification are allowed access inside the U.S. Capitol. Restrictions around the
U.S. Capitol include permanent and temporary security barriers and posts manned by U.S. Capitol
Police. On January 6, 2021, permanent and temporary security barriers were in place to separate
areas where lawful first amendment activity could be conducted from areas restricted both to
prevent any adverse impact on the legislative process and to safeguard and prevent and property
damage directed at the U.S. Capitol and West Front Inaugural Platform. These security barriers
included bike racks that were positioned to the north of the U.S. Capitol along Constitution
Avenue; to the south of the U.S. Capitol along Independence Avenue; to the west of the U.S.
Capitol along First Street on the eastern side of that street; and, on the east side of the U.S. Capitol,
between the Capitol Plaza (East Front) and the grassy areas located between the Plaza and First
Street. This bounded area is hereinafter referred to as the “Restricted Grounds.” Within the West
Front of the Restricted Grounds there were additional temporary barriers due to preparations and
ongoing construction for the Inauguration including green snow fencing and signage stating “Area
Closed By order of the United States Capitol Police Board.” The exterior plaza of the U.S. Capitol
was also closed to members of the public.

The picture on the next page demonstrates the barriers that were set up around the Capitol
Building on January 6, 2021.

BT — S'ie 1N i 2 - H-Mﬁ
On January 6, 2021, a joint session of the United States Congress convened at the United
States Capitol, which is located at First Street, SE, in Washington, D.C. During the joint session,
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elected members of the United States House of Representatives and the United States Senate were
meeting in separate chambers of the United States Capitol to certify the vote count of the Electoral
College of the 2020 Presidential Election, which had taken place on November 3, 2020. The joint
session began at approximately 1:00 p.m. Shortly thereafter, by approximately 1:30 p.m., the
House and Senate adjourned to separate chambers to resolve a particular objection. Vice President
Mike Pence was present and presiding, first in the joint session, and then in the Senate chamber.

As the proceedings commenced, a large crowd gathered outside the U.S. Capitol. As noted
above, temporary and permanent barricades were in place around the exterior of the U.S. Capitol
building, and U.S. Capitol Police were present and attempting to keep the crowd away from the
Capitol building and the proceedings underway inside.

The picture below shows the west side of the Capitol Grounds near the Inaugural Stage
where a police barricade was established along with the fenced barricade in an attempt to keep
protesters from breaching the barricade.

At such time, the certification proceedings still underway and the exterior doors and
windows of the U.S. Capitol were locked or otherwise secured. Members of the U.S. Capitol Police
attempted to maintain order and keep the crowd from entering the Capitol; however, shortly after
2:00 p.m., individuals in the crowd forced entry into the U.S. Capitol, including by breaking
windows and by assaulting members of the U.S. Capitol Police, as others in the crowd encouraged
and assisted those acts.

Shortly thereafter, at approximately 2:20 p.m. members of the United States House of
Representatives and United States Senate, including the President of the Senate, Vice President
Mike Pence, were instructed to—and did—evacuate the chambers. Accordingly, the joint session
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of the United States Congress was effectively suspended until shortly after 8:00 p.m. Vice
President Pence remained in the United States Capitol from the time he was evacuated from the
Senate Chamber until the sessions resumed.

During national news coverage of the aforementioned events, video footage which
appeared to be captured on mobile devices of persons present on the scene depicted evidence of
violations of local and federal law, including scores of individuals inside the U.S. Capitol building
and the Restricted Grounds without authority to be there.

On January 9, 2021, the FBI received a tip that Otero County, New Mexico Commissioner
COUY GRIFFIN (hereinafter S1) was present at the U.S. Capitol on January 6, 2021, and had
posted videos to his Facebook page indicating that he intended to return to Washington, D.C. on
January 20, 2021, and put the American flag on House Speaker Nancy Pelosi’s desk.

Through investigation, the FBI and your affiant learned that S1 is the founder of an
organization called “Cowboys for Trump.” Following the incident at the U.S. Capitol on January
6, 2021, S1 posted a video to the Cowboys for Trump Facebook page in which he stated that he
“climbed up on the top of the Capitol building and . . . had a first row seat.” In that same video,
which has since been removed from the Facebook page, he went on to state his intention to return
to the U.S. Capitol on January 20, 2021:

You want to say that that was a mob? You want to say that was violence?
No sir. No Ma’am. No we could have a 2nd Amendment rally on those
same steps that we had that rally yesterday. You know, and if we do, then
it’s gonna be a sad day, because there’s gonna be blood running out of
that building. But at the end of the day, you mark my word, we will plant
our flag on the desk of Nancy Pelosi and Chuck Schumer and Donald J.
Trump if it boils down to it.

On January 11, 2021, Special Agents from the FBI interviewed S1 about his actions on
January 6, 2021. S1 reported that he traveled to Washington, D.C. to participate in a protest
regarding the results of the 2020 Presidential Election. S1 stated that he traveled with a man named
MATT STRUCK, who runs media for the Cowboys for Trump organization. S1 told agents that
he expected the event to be peaceful, and that it largely was. S1 stated that when he arrived at the
U.S. Capitol, there was already a large crowd forming around the barricades. S1 stated that he was
“caught up” in the crowd, which pushed its way through the barricades and entered the restricted
area of the U.S. Capitol. S1 indicated that neither he nor STRUCK entered the U.S. Capitol
building at any time, and instead they both remained on the U.S. Capitol steps. S1 stated that police
never asked him to leave the area, and he exited the U.S. Capitol grounds peacefully. Finally, S1
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stated that he plans to return to Washington, D.C. for the rally on January 20, 2021, and hopes the
protests will be non-violent. S1 told the Special Agents that he hopes a change in leadership can
be accomplished “without a single shot being fired,” but noted that there was “no option that’s off
the table for the sake of freedom.”

Special Agents from the FBI also interviewed STRUCK, the videographer that traveled
with S1 to Washington, D.C. on January 6, 2021. STRUCK stated that, following the rally, he and
S1 moved towards the U.S. Capitol and saw people “where they shouldn’t be,” pushing past
barriers and up onto the platform deck in front of the U.S. Capitol. STRUCK stated that he and S1
climbed up the U.S. Capitol wall and onto the patio on the U.S. Capitol’s west front. STRUCK
stated that as he and S1 got closer to the U.S. Capitol, there were people around them scaling
additional walls, but S1 decided they would not do that. Instead, a door opened which gave them
access to the top stairs and the outside deck of the U.S. Capitol via a temporary staircase. S1 got
up on the wall to face the crowd, and was able to borrow a bullhorn to lead the group in a prayer.
STRUCK stated that he and S1 remained up on the deck for approximately an hour and a half, and
left unprompted when they smelled pepper spray in the air. STRUCK stated that neither he nor S1
had “malicious intent,” but acknowledged that they may have committed some “minor trespassing”
onto the steps of the U.S. Capitol. STRUCK provided the FBI with the video footage that he had
taken on January 6, 2021, during the incident at the U.S. Capitol.

According to Special Agents from the FBI, the video footage provided by STRUCK is
consistent with videos posted on the “Cowboys for Trump” Facebook page as well as on S1°s
personal Facebook page.

The below picture is a still image taken from an ABC7 news story about S1°s participation
in the January 6, 2021, incident at the U.S. Capitol. In the image, S1 is seen standing on the west
front of the U.S. Capitol steps, well within the restricted area. In the video, S1 states: “it is a great
day for America! The people are showing that they’ve had enough. People are ready for fair and
legal elections, or this is what you are going to get, you’re going to get more of it.”

@ & Youlube T3

In another media story by Inside Edition, S1 was interviewed about his participation in the
January 6, 2021, incident at the U.S. Capitol. The news segment contained video footage of S1
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standing in the same location on the U.S. Capitol steps, and stating: “we are not going anywhere.
We are not going to take for no for an answer. We are not going to get our election stolen from us
from China.” During his subsequent interview, a reporter asks S1 about the comments he posted
on Facebook stating that there might be “blood running out” of the U.S. Capitol during further
demonstrations, and whether he was afraid that additional people could die. S1 responded: “T am
more afraid of losing my freedom than anything.” At another point, S1 also states: “We are not
going to allow it. There will never be a Biden presidency.”

A second still image below, which was obtained from a video posted to S1°s personal
Facebook page, shows S1 addressing the crowd with a bullhorn in the same general location on
the U.S. Capitol steps:

Additional still images taken from the Facebook video on S1°s personal page as well as
from the ABC7 News story show S1°s proximity to the U.S. Capitol as the videographer pans
away from S1. Once again, although the crowd control barriers are not visible due to the large
crowd, S1’s location on the west facing steps of the U.S. Capitol was well within the restricted
area.
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On January 14, 2021, during an Otero County, New Mexico council meeting, S1 spoke for
approximately seventeen minutes about his actions on January 6, 2021. During these comments,
S1 told the council that he noticed the fencing that was erected to delineate the area between
permissible First-Amendment activity and the prohibited areas on the west side of the U.S. Capitol.
Specifically, S1 stated that when the crowd got down to the inaugural side of the building, “there
was some fencing up and they were saying that you could not go any further because this was
being reserved for Joe Biden and his inauguration. Well, you tell a million Trump supporters that

., pretty soon that crowd just pushed through. I wasn’t anywhere in the front of it, [ was in the
back.”

S1 also told members of the council about his intent to lead the group in a prayer, and noted
that he finally was able to do so when he got a bullhorn “outside the Capitol, but up where the
President is inaugurated at.” S1°s statements about his location and actions on January 6, 2021, are
consistent with the video screenshots and other open source material that your affiant has reviewed.

Finally, S1 also spoke at the council meeting about his plans to return to Washington, D.C.
to protest President-Elect Biden’s inauguration on January 20, 2021. S1 stated that he intended to
bring his firearms with him when he traveled to Washington, D.C. Specifically, S1 stated: “I am
going to leave either tonight or tomorrow. I’ve got a .357 Henry big boy rifle . . . that I got in the
trunk of my car, and I’ve got a .357 single action revolver . . . that [ will have underneath the front
seat on my right side. And I will embrace my Second Amendment, I will keep my right to bear
arms, my vehicle is an extension of my home in regard to the constitution law, and I have a right
to have those firearms in my car.”

Your affiant reviewed open source material and news articles about S1 in order to become
familiar with his appearance. As an example, your affiant compared the photograph of COUY
GRIFFIN from a May 20, 2020, news article to the still images of S1 from the January 6, 2021,
incident at the U.S. Capitol. Based on this comparison, as well as the other facts contained within
this affidavit, your affiant reasonably believes that the person shown within the restricted area of
the U.S. Capitol on January 6, 2021, is, in fact, COUY GRIFFIN.

B £ Youlube T3
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Couy Griffin is an Otero Couny Commissionsr and founder of "Cowbays for Trump" (Credit: Couy Griffin)

Based on the foregoing, your affiant submits that there is probable cause to believe that
COUY GRIFFIN violated 18 U.S.C. § 1752(a), which makes it a crime to (1) knowingly enter or
remain in any restricted building or grounds without lawful authority to do; and (2) knowingly,
and with intent to impede or disrupt the orderly conduct of Government business or official
functions, engage in disorderly or disruptive conduct in, or within such proximity to, any restricted
building or grounds when, or so that, such conduct, in fact, impedes or disrupts the orderly conduct
of Government business or official functions.

St 5 ——

DETECTIVE SCOTT BROWN
METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

Attested to by the applicant in accordance with the requirements of Fed. R. Crim. P. 4.1 by

telephone, this 15th day of January 2021.
Zia M. Faruqui
}f “~ [ N-2081.01.15

22:07:07 -05'00'

Zia M. Faruqui
U.S. MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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AQO 442 (Rev. 11/11) Arrest Warrant

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

District of Columbia

United States of America

¥ ) Case: 1:21-mj-00092
COUY GRIFFIN ) Assigned To : Faruqui, Zia M.
) Assign. Date : 1/16/2021
; Description: Complaint w/ Arrest Warrant
N - )
Defendant
ARREST WARRANT
To: Any authorized law enforcement officer

YOU ARE COMMANDED to arrest and bring before a United States magistrate judge without unnecessary delay
(name of person to be arrested) COUY GRIFFIN s

who is accused ol an offense or violation based on the following document [iled with the court:

O Indictment (0 Superseding Indictment O Information (7 Superseding Information o Complaint

(3 Probation Violation Petition (0 Supervised Release Violation Petition 0 Violation Notice [ Order of the Court

This offense is briefly described as follows:

18 U.S.C. 1752 (a)(1)- Knowingly Entering or Remaining in any Restricted Building or Grounds Without Lawful Authority

Zia M. Faruqui
%&\ 2021.01.15 22:06:27
Date:  01/15/2021 L -05'00'
Issuing officer's signature
City and state: Washington, DC - o o Zia M. Faruqui, U.S. Magistrate Judge

Printed name and ritle

Return

This warrant was received on (date) ‘/ I 7/ )\ O)\ , and the person was arrested on (date) | CV,) 02 |
at (city and state) M%&Uﬂjﬂ\ﬂ

Date: / 7,1 (B,li =

KS%@V@Y\ 60\'/]»(&”

Prifited name and title

Plaintiffs' Exhibit 6 - Page 1 of 1




Case 1:21-cr-00092-TNM Document 85 Filed 03/07/22 Page 1 of 2

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA :  CRIMINAL NO. 21-CR-092 (TNM)
\A
COUY GRIFFIN, :  VIOLATIONS:
: 18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(1)
Defendant. : (Entering and Remaining in a

Restricted Building or Grounds)

18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(2)

(Disorderly and Disruptive Conduct in a
Restricted Building or Grounds)

THIRD AMENDED INFORMATION

The United States Attorney charges that:

COUNT ONE

On or about January 6, 2021, within the District of Columbia, COUY GRIFFIN, did
unlawfully and knowingly enter and remain in a restricted building and grounds, that is, any posted,
cordoned-off, and otherwise restricted area within the United States Capitol and its grounds, where
the Vice President was and would be temporarily visiting, without lawful authority to do so.

(Entering and Remaining in a Restricted Building or Grounds, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section 1752(a)(1))

COUNT TWO

On or about January 6, 2021, within the District of Columbia, COUY GRIFFIN, did
knowingly, and with intent to impede and disrupt the orderly conduct of Government business and
official functions, engage in disorderly and disruptive conduct in and within such proximity to, a
restricted building and grounds, that is, any posted, cordoned-off, and otherwise restricted area
within the United States Capitol and its grounds, where the Vice President was and would be

temporarily visiting, when and so that such conduct did in fact impede and disrupt the orderly
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conduct of Government business and official functions.

(Disorderly and Disruptive Conduct in a Restricted Building or Grounds, in violation
of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1752(a)(2))

Respectfully submitted,

MATTHEW M. GRAVES
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
D.C. Bar No. 481052

By: /s/Janani Iyengar
Janani Iyengar
N.Y. Bar No. 5225990
Assistant United States Attorney
555 4™ Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20530
Telephone No. (202) 252-7760
Janani.iyengar@usdoj.gov
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE

OTERO COUNTY COMMISSIONERS
MATHERLY AND MARQUARDT DEMAND
COMMISSIONER GRIFFIN RESIGN

ALAMOGORDO, New Mexico, January 19th, 2021—Gerald Matherly, Otero
County District 1 Commissioner, and Vickie Marquardt, Otero County District 3
Commissioner, issued the following statement calling upon Couy Griffin to resign his
office as Otero County District 2 Commissioner.

Couy Griffin from his first day as an Otero County Commissioner has devoted
himself to promoting his Cowboys for Trump organization rather than being a county
commissioner who serves the citizens of Otero County who elected him. There have been
an endless series of incidents with Commissioner Griffin that have led to investigations
by the Secretary of State, the Attorney General, and the State Auditor. Lawsuits have been
filed against the county because of Commissioner Griffin’s actions. He has been banished
from the Mescalero Apache Reservation. He has made racist statements. He has
repeatedly insulted other public officials. He has refused to comply with state campaign
finance laws. His actions have consumed an enormous amount of time of county staff,
who must deal with the drama he instigates at the expense of attending to public business.

Commissioner Griffin has called repeatedly for violence, stating “the only good
Democrat is a dead Democrat,” which led to threats on county staff. He told a reporter
the governors of Virginia and Michigan were traitors who should be hanged. He was one
of the rioters who stormed the United States Capitol to stop the counting of the electoral
vote, an action for which he has been criminally charged in Federal court. And he has
called for violence at the inauguration tomorrow of President Biden.

There is an effort to recall Commissioner Griffin from office. That process will take
months to complete. The New Mexico Attorney General’s proposed lawsuit under
N.M.S.A. § 10-4-2 to remove Commissioner Griffin also will take time. The people of
Otero County deserve an end to this circus now. We call upon Commissioner Griffin to
resign his office immediately. If he does not, we will support the recall effort and the
removal proceedings of the Attorney General.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE

* kX kK K* kX K*x * Xk K*x * * *

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,
vs.
COUY GRIFFIN,

Defendant.

* kX kK Kk kX Kk Kx kX K* Kk * *

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

*x Kk Kk %

Criminal Action
No. 21-MJ-00092

Washington, DC
February 1, 2021
3:43 p.m.

—_— — — — — — — — — — — ~—

*x Kk Kk %

TRANSCRIPT OF INITIAL APPEARANCE/DETENTION HEARING
CONDUCTED VIA ZOOM
BEFORE THE HONORABLE ZIA M. FARUQUI,
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE

APPEARANCES:

FOR THE GOVERNMENT:

FOR THE DEFENDANT:

FOR PRETRIAL SERVICES:

JANANI IYENGAR, ESQ.

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY'S OFFICE
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

555 Fourth Street, NW

Eleventh Floor

Washington, DC 20530

DAVID B. SMITH, ESQ.
NICHOLAS D. SMITH, ESQ.
DAVID B. SMITH, PLLC

108 North Alfred Street
First Floor

Alexandria, Virginia 22314

CHRISTINE SCHUCK
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REPORTED BY: LISA EDWARDS, RDR, CRR
Official Court Reporter

United States District Court for the

District of Columbia
333 Constitution Avenue,
Room 6706
Washington, DC 20001
(202) 354-3269

NW
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THE COURTROOM DEPUTY: This is Magistrate Case
21-92, the United States versus Couy Griffin.

The Defendant is present by video.

Janani Iyengar representing the Government; David
Smith and Nicholas Smith representing the Defendant.

Pretrial Services is Christine Schuck.

This matter is set for an initial appearance and
detention hearing.

Mr. Griffin? Can you hear me, Mr. Griffin?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURTROOM DEPUTY: Perfect. Please raise your
right hand.

(Whereupon, the Defendant was duly sworn.)

THE COURTROOM DEPUTY: Thank you. You may put
your hand down.

THE COURT: Thanks so much, Mr. Griffin. Can you
see me? This is Judge Faruqui right here.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. I see you, your Honor.

THE COURT: Great. Thank you so much.

So I am going to start by speaking to you first.
I'm going to ask you a few questions. We'll kind of get
things situated for the proceeding today.

One of the things that's obviously tremendously
important is to have counsel formally appointed. I know

both Mr. Smiths have been working diligently on your case
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already. I think they deserve to be recognized for what
they're doing. Right now, they have not yet been formally
appointed. That's something I'm going to do today, one of
the reasons this proceeding is really important. But once
he is formally appointed, then I'm going to shift over and
talk to him. I'll always give you an opportunity to speak
in these proceedings and make sure that you're being heard
and that, if you have questions, they'll be answered.

To that end, we're going to go ahead with the
procedure. We've been doing them with video and audio. It
allows us to do it more quickly, due to the ongoing
pandemic. We've not had in-person hearings since, I
suspect, April of 2020, so it's been a while. But I want to
make sure that you're able to hear what's going on, that
you're comfortable. Obviously, it's always better to be in
person. Just right now, things aren't safe, so we've been
doing this remotely. I just want to make sure you've had a
chance to speak to Mr. Smith and you're comfortable going
forward today.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Great. Thanks so much, Mr. Griffin.

So I'm going to start. You know, you've been
sworn in. So Ms. Lavigne-Rhodes has done that. It's really
important. I'm going to ask you some basic background

questions, very straightforward stuff. But if for any
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reason you feel like you're unsure or confused about
something I said or if you don't know if you can answer
truthfully, that's not a problem. It only becomes a problem
if for some reason you can't honestly answer that question
and you still go forward.

And I understand. It's the natural -- human
nature is to just answer questions put to you. But that is
not something that is a good idea today. Here, if you can't
answer something or you need a minute to think about it,
just let me know, because we have to be very careful. We
don't want you to have separate perjury charges or contempt
charges in this proceeding. So it's important that if you
don't understand something, if you're unsure, you say, "I
need a minute, Judge." Okay?

THE DEFENDANT: Sure. Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Great.

THE DEFENDANT: I understand.

THE COURT: And an incredibly important thing is
that I need a promise from you, which is that if we were in
the courtroom and you were unsure about something, you could
lean over to Mr. Smith and say, "Hey, I don't understand
what the Judge is doing" or, you know, you need to speak up
and say, "Judge, I've got a question" or "I need to speak to
my lawyer. Can we step back or can" -- and we can clear the

courtroom. All these things we would normally do, but we
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can't do now. Just because we're proceeding remotely
doesn't mean your rights are any less important or that your
questions are any less important.

So I need you to promise me that if you don't
understand what's going on or if you need to speak to your
lawyer, let me know. We'll put you in a breakout room or
we'll make sure we slow down and make sure everything that's
going on is something that you understand. Okay?

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you. I understand that.

THE COURT: Great.

So I'm going to begin by asking, as I said, some
very basic background questions. These are questions I ask
everybody who appears before me. It's to make sure the
proceedings as they go forward are ones that you are able to
understand what's going on and that I feel like -- I feel
comfortable that we can go forward.

So I'll start with: Could you please state your
name for the record.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. It's Couy Griffin.

THE COURT: Thank you.

How old are you?

THE DEFENDANT: 47 years old.

THE COURT: Great.

How far did you get in school?

THE DEFENDANT: Some college.
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THE COURT: Great.

And have you taken any drugs, medicine or pills or
drank any alcohol in the last 24 hours that would make it
difficult for you to understand what's going on today?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.

THE COURT: Thank you.

So what we're going to do is I'm going to notify
you of the charges. Then we're going to talk about your
rights; and part of that will be a right to counsel, so then
we'll talk to Mr. Smith. And then the Government has asked
that you be detained pending trial, so we'll see if the
parties are ready for a detention hearing today.

If that is the case, then we'll have the detention
hearing. It goes by what's called proffer, which means that
the parties don't put on witnesses. They state what they as
officers of the Court believe the facts to be true and make
argument. And you'll hear from the Government, Ms. Iyengar;
you'll hear from Mr. Smith; and you'll hear from as well
Pretrial Services. It's the part of the court that makes
determinations about whether or not a person is -- whether
there are conditions or a combination of conditions that
will permit for their release. So we'll start by going over
the charges.

So you've been charged by a criminal complaint

with one count of entering or remaining in a restricted
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building in violation of 18 USC 1752(a) (1). If you're
convicted of this, you can face a term of imprisonment of
not more than one year, a fine of $100,000 or both. 1In
addition, the Court may impose a term of supervised release
of not more than one year.

The purpose of this hearing is to advise you of
this charge and your rights in relation to that. The Court
will also determine, as I said, custody issues.

So let's start with your rights. We have two
rights for today. The first is the right to remain silent.
This means you're not required to make any statements or
give any statements to any law enforcement officer about the
offense for which you have been charged. 1If you've said
something to them already, you need say no more today.
Anything you do say to a law enforcement officer can be used
against you in this proceeding or in future proceedings.

Does that make sense?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You also have the right to assistance
of an attorney to represent you in this case. You may, if
you wish, hire your own lawyer; or if you cannot afford to
hire your own lawyer, I will appoint an attorney to
represent you at the government's expense.

Do you understand that right?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
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THE COURT: Great.

Do you wish to hire counsel on your own or do you
wish to have me appoint Mr. Smith to be your counsel?

THE DEFENDANT: I would like Mr. Smith to be my
counsel.

THE COURT: Okay. Now, sometimes people fill out
a financial affidavit. Other times, more typically what we
do is ask some questions. And so I'm mindful of the fact
that there's a public line, and I don't want to get too
in-depth into your personal finances.

Mr. Smith, I'm sure you can follow up, should
there be any confusion or things like that, if there's
anything that comes to light.

But I'll just ask you, Mr. Griffin, do you feel
like you are able to financially afford at this time -- that
you have legal funds that would allow you to afford a
counsel of your choice in this matter? Or do you think that
you require the assistance of the Court in appointing
counsel?

THE DEFENDANT: No. I'm sure I need the Court to
appoint counsel. I can't afford counsel right now.

THE COURT: Okay. I find that based on your
statement -- and I will always expect the parties -- they
have a continuing obligation to inform the Court if it's not

the case -- I will appoint counsel for you in this matter.
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Mr. Smith is -- both Mr. Smiths are defense counsels.
Normally, you'd see federal public defenders. There are so
many, frankly, cases right know, the federal public defender
is doing a phenomenal job of really managing all of its
cases. We're also lucky to have in the District of Columbia
CJA-panel lawyers, so defense lawyers like both Mr. Smiths,
who work in your traditional criminal defense firms who also
as part of their service to the Bar and our community act as
appointed counsel.

So in this instance, Mr. Smith and Mr. Smith have
been identified by the Federal Public Defender's Office as
CJA lawyers who may be available. So I'm going to ask them
now if they're available. Does that make sense, kind of the
distinction between the Public Defender's Office and how
they fit into the system, Mr. Griffin?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Great.

So I'll speak with the Mr. Smith that I know
better, Mr. David Smith. But I'm happy to hear from
Mr. Nicholas Smith. Jump in. I see David Smith is unmuted,
so I will go to him.

Mr. Smith, I want to first confirm that you are
available to be appointed in this matter and that, if so,
you would like to be.

MR. DAVID SMITH: I am. I would like to be.
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THE COURT: Thank you.

So we will go ahead and appoint you as counsel in
this matter to represent the Defendant. The Court is very
appreciative of your service and all the CJA panel, all the
work they're continuing to do with all the cases that are
coming in.

So, Mr. Griffin, after this point forward, I'll
likely be speaking mostly to Mr. Smith. That doesn't mean
that you can't speak; it just means that you have the right
to remain silent. It's in your best interest if we have
Mr. Smith do the talking, because the things that he says
can't be used against you in future proceedings, whereas
what you say can.

You'll find that, like any person -- again, it's
human nature -- you want to respond when someone is saying
something. But it may not be in your best interest. So
let's make sure we let him do the talking; and we'll always
give you time to speak to him separately, if that's all
right.

THE DEFENDANT: I understand. Thank you.

THE COURT: Just so we can avoid feedback, if
you're able to mute your monitor, you should see on the
bottom of the screen a mute option. If you can do that,
that will allow the court reporter to make sure she can get

a good record.
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Great. Thank you.

Mr. Smith, before the detention hearing, the last
right I want to cover is the Defendant's right to full
evidence in this case, what's commonly described as
exculpatory evidence. Congress amended Rule 5 recently and
stated that the Government must produce all that evidence.
And so pursuant to Rule 5(f), I'm ordering the United States
to produce all exculpatory evidence as that term is defined
in the case of Brady versus Maryland and its related cases.
Not doing so in a timely manner may result in sanctions,
including exclusion of evidence, adverse jury instructions,
dismissal of charges and contempt proceedings.

Ms. Iyengar, I'll turn to you next. I wanted to
see if you are prepared to go forward with the detention
hearing today, if you continue to ask for detention and, if
so, under what basis, and if we should plan to go ahead by
proffer.

Oh, I think you're on mute, Ms. Iyengar.

MS. IYENGAR: Yes, your Honor. The Government is
asking to go forward with the detention hearing. We're
seeking detention under 3142 (f) (2) (A). And the Government
submitted a [indiscernible] as part of its request for
detention, and so we would be asking to proceed by proffer
at this point.

THE COURT: Thank you.
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Mr. Smith, are you prepared to go forward as well?

MR. DAVID SMITH: Yes.

THE COURT: Thank you.

And we received extensive briefing from both
parties on this matter, which has been put on the docket. I
am appreciative from both parties, the Government and the
defense side, that you all have briefed the issues so
thoroughly.

Please, Ms. Iyengar, why don't you proceed.

MS. IYENGAR: Yes, your Honor.

So I think, as the Government laid out in the
motion that it submitted in favor of detention, the
Government believes the Defendant is a flight risk at this
point and therefore needs to be detained. As we stated in
our —-- the motion that we submitted, the Defendant does not
have any ties to the District of Columbia that the
Government is aware of. He did cross state lines in order
to commit this offense.

And I understand the argument that the defense
made in the response to the Government's motion that the
Defendant did not actually breach the inside of the Capitol
that day; but the evidence that the Government has that was
laid out in the motion that was submitted clearly shows that
the Defendant did go past barriers that were set up, that it

was clear that the area that he was in, which was an area
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that was restricted, and he was aware that that was an area
that was restricted.

Not to mention the fact that he then subsequently
went to the area where the Inauguration was held on January
20th during the course of the riot at the Capitol.

The other concern that the Government has in terms
of releasing the Defendant at this point is that he made a
statement during a public county council meeting that he was
going to return to the District of Columbia for the
Presidential Inauguration, that he was going to hold
basically a second rally and that he was bringing firearms
with him for that purpose.

And it is -- statements like that just are very
concerning to the Government about whether it's a good idea
to release the Defendant back into the community at this
point.

So I think, based on all of that information, the
Defendant's conduct in this case and the fact that he
doesn't have ties to the District, we don't believe it's a
good risk for release at this point.

THE COURT: Thank you, Ms. Iyengar.

So as I understood it, in the Government's
detention memorandum you also made some requests with the
same facts, but also under the prong of the obstruction of

justice. Is that right? Or --
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MS. IYENGAR: Yes, your Honor. We did also make
the same arguments, basically, with respect to the
obstruction issue as well.

THE COURT: Thank you.

I'll go to Pretrial Services. I believe
Ms. Schuck is the phone. Ms. Schuck, are you there?

THE PRETRIAL SERVICES OFFICER: Yes, your Honor.
Christine Schuck, Pretrial Services.

THE COURT: Thank you, Ms. Schuck. Again, as
always, I'll just take a moment to thank Pretrial Services
for the incredible work that they are doing right now with
the enormous filing of cases, the professionalism. It is
always appreciated. 1I've received a lot of emails in other
cases from you late over the weekend. So thank you for your
continued hard work.

I'd like to hear on this matter Pretrial's
recommendation in terms of -- is it release or detention?
And putting it on the record.

THE PRETRIAL SERVICES OFFICER: Based on the
Defendant's criminal history, Pretrial's recommendation is
to -- that he may be -- should the Court decide it's
appropriate, he may be released with the following
conditions: that he report to Pretrial Services weekly by
phone; that he verify his address with Pretrial Services;

that he notify Pretrial Services in advance of all travel
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within the continental United States, and the Court is to
approve all other travel.

He's not to possess any firearms. He is to
contact Pretrial Services probably -- we would say by
February 4th for him to be interviewed by telephone because
we do not have any residential or personal, you know,
history on him.

Also, report as soon as possible to Pretrial
Services any contact with law enforcement, to include
arrests, questioning or traffic stops; not to obtain a
passport or other international travel document; surrender
any passports he may have to the Pretrial Services Agency
for the District of Columbia; to stay out of the District of
Columbia except for court or pretrial business or meetings
with his attorney; and not to illegally possess or use a
narcotic drug or other controlled substance.

Again, this recommendation is solely based on his
criminal history.

THE COURT: Thank you, Ms. Schuck.

Mr. Smith, I'm happy to hear from you.

MR. DAVID SMITH: Yes, your Honor.

First, I'd like to clear up some things that sort
of have arisen in this case and that I think are important
to clear up:

First of all, I want you to know that he took his
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COVID test at the jail, and he's now in population rather
than in isolation.

We've already -- through the whole issue of
whether he should be present here, he's obviously present
and willingly present.

Here's an important thing: You know, during the
prior hearing, you thought that he had refused to speak with
you on the cell phone. But actually, he has explained to us
that he misunderstood what the jail guards were telling him
when they brought the cell phone into the cell for him to
use. Like me, he's hard of hearing. And the guards were --
the two guards were both wearing their masks, and he had
difficulty understanding what they were saying because of
the hearing problem and the guards' masks. And he thought
that they were telling him there was a call from a lawyer
who wished to represent him. And that's why he said, "I
don't want to talk to him" and, you know, "I want to talk to
my son," his 7-year-old son.

THE COURT: Mr. Smith, I don't want to interrupt,
because I appreciate, as I said, your thoroughness and your
diligence.

You don't need to explain to me, frankly, if --
well, as a preliminary matter, I'm happy to hear that the
Defendant has been able to take the steps that were under

his control to get out of isolation, because I think that,
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as you describe, it was a very challenging and difficult
situation he was in. Obviously, I think the jail staff is
limited in what they can do when someone may have COVID that
comes in. They have to protect the other folks in the
prison as well as themselves.

But it's -- I'm happy to hear the Defendant is
out, I mean, in the general population now and that he has
been tested. That in my mind makes a lot of sense.

And I certainly do not hold against him anything
that happened in the previous hearings. I think it's very
easy, frankly, to be confused as to what's going on or
confronted; and that at the end of the day, as long as the
Defendant's respectful now, which he has demonstrated
clearly that he is, that is for the past and of no matter at
the moment.

So I certainly [indiscernible] from that. I would
not be at my best in those circumstances. So I do not
expect anyone else. I hold everyone to at least the minimum
standard of: What can I do or what would I do walking in
the Defendant's shoes? So there's no concern on my end for
that at all. I am solely focused on the arguments that the
Government has made today.

MR. DAVID SMITH: Thank you very much, your Honor.

So turning now to the detention issues: As you

know, we filed a pretty comprehensive 22-page brief on
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January 27. And I'm sure the Court has read it, so I don't
need to repeat everything I said in that memo.

THE COURT: One second, Mr. Smith.

Ms. Schuck, can you mute your line? We're just
getting some feedback from your line.

THE PRETRIAL SERVICES OFFICER: I was muted, your
Honor.

THE COURT: It's still coming over to you, saying
that there's background noise there. If you could just try
again, I'd appreciate it. If not, no worries.

Mr. Smith, continue.

MR. DAVID SMITH: Thank you, your Honor.

And I would note that the Government has not
responded to our brief in writing. They haven't filed a
reply, although there was time to do so.

So mainly our arguments really stand completely
unrebutted. And I just wanted to note that for the record,
I'm not going to waste time. I'm just going to briefly
summarize why the Government's request for detention clearly
fails the test.

So first, let's talk about a few facts here.
Unlike many of the other people who have received a lot of
media attention, which I've been able to read in the
newspapers, Mr. Griffin is only charged with a single

misdemeanor offense, whereas in other cases the Defendants
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have been charged with multiple offenses that are much more
serious than the offense he's charged with.

And I have read in the Washington Post -- and I
think we cited this article in our brief -- the Defendants
who have been charged with the misdemeanor offense that
Mr. Griffin has been charged with have on a number of
occasions been given pretrial diversion or, if they pled
guilty or were convicted after trial, they received a very
short sentence, sometimes shorter than the amount of time
Mr. Griffin has already been in custody at the DC Jail.

So why is any of that important? Well, for one
thing, it certainly suggests that he would be very foolhardy
if he were to flee, as the Government says there's a serious
risk of him fleeing. I think that's completely unsupported
by the facts in the case.

As Probation just said, he has no criminal record
except for a very old DUI. He's lived his entire life in
Southern New Mexico. He has a loving family. He is an
elected official of the county in which he lives. 1In other
words, he's part of the county government. He's been
gainfully employed since the 1990s without any break that
I'm aware of.

And, I mean, luckily, you've had a chance to see
and speak with him. He's not a crazy person, even though he

has made some, you know, unfortunate statements, which
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without making those statements he probably wouldn't be
here.

[Unidentified voice coming over the video feed.]

MR. DAVID SMITH: So -- I don't know who's
speaking.

But we cited the Lemon case from the DC Circuit, a
1983 decision, saying that statements such as the one that
Mr. Griffin made, which the Government is rightly concerned
about, cannot be considered for purposes of determining
whether to grant someone pretrial release.

And it's interesting: The Lemon case cites
another case, Williamson versus United States. It's a 1950
Second Circuit decision, which is a very interesting
decision. The decision is by Supreme Court Justice Robert
Jackson, considered one of the greatest of all Supreme Court
justices. He was on the Supreme Court at the time. And
Mr. Williamson was -- had already been convicted in a Smith
Act case, where he was accused of seeking to overthrow the
United States government. And he was -- he had petitioned
for cert to the Supreme Court.

And so Justice Jackson as part of the Second
Circuit panel, strangely, was writing an opinion on whether
he should get bail. And in that opinion, which is cited by
the DC Circuit, Justice Jackson said that statements made by

the Defendant, which are similar or worse, perhaps, than
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what Mr. Griffin said during a council -- during a meeting
of the Otero County government -- should not be considered,
must not be considered in deciding whether to grant bail.
In that case, it was bail pending a petition for certiorari.
The Defendant, Mr. Williamson, had already been convicted of
a serious offense under the Smith Act for which he could
have been imprisoned for decades, unlike Mr. Griffin, who's
facing a misdemeanor charge.

So I think that the decision in Williamson by
Justice Jackson is striking, I think, for the light it sheds
on this case because the Government, even though they're
rightfully concerned about the statement that he made in the
council, they are overreacting to it. And I doubt that
they've read Lemon or Williamson, because they certainly
should discourage the Government from even seeking detention
in this case based on his statement, because that's really
all they have.

The fact that he doesn't live in the District of
Columbia is really insignificant. And there really is no
other basis for detaining him. There's no basis for finding
that he would be a risk of flight whatsoever.

And there's even, I mean, just as weak a case for
the second theory, which is that he would obstruct or
interfere with a witness against him or a juror. I mean,

the Government made no effort to support that. I note that
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the Government didn't even mention that second theory until
you prompted them as to whether they were still relying on
that second theory. The only thing that Ms. Iyengar
mentioned initially was the argument that Mr. Griffin is a
serious flight risk. And he certainly is not a serious
flight risk. There's really no support for that either.

So let's see. There's really no factual or legal
basis for the Government's contentions. And moreover, even
if there was concern that he could be a risk of flight, that
concern can certainly be eliminated by the conditions that
the Court is free to impose.

And we would suggest that the conditions that were
just proposed by the pretrial services officer, Ms. Schuck,
are sufficient, more than sufficient, to assure his
appearance in court whenever it's required.

And the statute, 3142(c), says conditions that
will reasonably assure his appearance. You can never in any
case guarantee that a person will show up; and we made that
point in the brief. Studies have shown that something like
1 to 1 and a half percent of individuals granted pretrial
release fail to show up. And Mr. Griffin is certainly not
going to be one of that 1 percent or 1 and a half percent
that don't show up.

I just wanted to mention another thing: If he was

to be denied release, he would fall behind on his mortgage
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payments and his child support payments for his 7-year-old
son and he would not be able to continue to serve his
constituents in Otero County, New Mexico. Those are
additional reasons to grant him pretrial release.

And if the Court has any questions about any of
this, I or Mr. Griffin will be happy to answer those
questions.

Thank you very much for hearing me out.

THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Smith. I appreciate
both the depth of your research and pulling cases from guite
a long time ago. I appreciate your advocacy. I think it's
helpful to think about those things. These are important
issues; and we have to dig deep into them to make sure we're
making the right decision ultimately, that I am.

That is also about the collateral consequences.
This is the most difficult part of a detention decision, is
that -- what happens to family members, what happens to
making mortgage payments, these things that make this such a
hard thing to do for magistrate judges as we sit here and
try to make the right decision about whether there are
conditions or a combination of conditions that can assure
the appearance of the Defendant and in this instance
preclude any obstruction of justice. There's no easy
answer, because on all paths there are pitfalls and dangers.

And so I'll hear from Ms. Iyengar and see if
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there's anything else she wants to add.

Ms. Iyengar, I will note that I didn't think
[indiscernible] was necessary in this. I think the defense
has stated their basis for release and the Government has
stated their basis for detention. I think that they are
[indiscernible]. I don't know that there is really much of
a factual dispute. I think it's just: How should the facts
be applied? But I'm happy to hear -- please don't feel
obligated. But if there's anything you'd like to add, I'm
happy to hear it.

MS. IYENGAR: Yes, your Honor.

I don't think there's anything that I'd like to
add in terms of any argument to be made for detention. I
think at this point we're just resting on the papers.

THE COURT: Thanks so much, Ms. Iyengar.

Mr. Griffin, I spent a lot of time reading your
documents, reading the Government's, looking at the cases
that are similarly situated. I think that's one thing that
we'll touch upon here.

You know, there's essentially two things normally
in a detention hearing we look at: ©Normally we look at
dangerousness to the community. Here, that's not something
that we're considering because of the charges that have been
brought. The Government has not requested that you be

detained by that standard.
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Rather, they ask that I find that there's no
condition or combination of conditions that will reasonably
assure your appearance in a future proceeding because you
are a serious risk of flight. ©Not a risk of flight, not an
ordinary risk of flight, but a serious risk of flight.

In addition, they say that you pose an
obstruction-of-justice threat in this matter. For those
reasons, they say that we should go through the four factors
of the Bail Reform Act, which is: the history and
characteristics of the Defendant; the nature and
circumstances of the offense; the weight of the evidence;
and the danger to the community/the general flight risk. So
we'll go through those there. And I'll go through and
explain why I rule ultimately the way that I do rule and,
you know, as I go through that, how that factors into my
analysis.

Ultimately, my decision is not the final decision.
Chief Judge Howell remains in waiting if for any reason
either the Government or Mr. Smith -- if you do not approve
of my findings. You have the opportunity to appeal to the
Chief Judge and seek her guidance. She will review it; I
think she will take into consideration what I have to say,
but she will ultimately make her decision based on the law
and the facts as she sees fit. She has had a few of these

recently, and I think she is always available to hear from

Plaintiffs' Exhibit 9 - Page 26 of 64




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

27

defendants, be it today, tomorrow, or from the Government,
whenever it is that they want to have a decision
reconsidered.

One thing I'll note before I go into the four
factors is in looking at similarly situated cases -- I think
Mr. Smith makes a compelling argument that we've looked --
we have to look at similarly situated cases. We look at
similarly situated cases not just as to this one instance,
of a riot, what the Government has described in its
pleadings as an insurrection, what the defense describes as
the exercise of First Amendment rights.

There are those similarly situated cases. There
are cases that came before me prior to these cases, which my
colleagues and I looked at, that involve people trying to
enter the premises of the White House, usually making it to
the Ellipse, not even past there, where they're stopped by
Secret Service officers. So I looked to those cases and
looked overall at the panoply of criminal cases that have
come before me.

I think it's worth noting for the record that, as
Mr. Smith notes, in most cases —-- his statistic is 77
percent of cases -- the Government asks for detention. And
I think that his argument is that it's overkill, that
essentially the Government is always asking for it, so they

lose credibility because in fact only in 1 percent of cases
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people do not appear or fail to appear.

I think it's important that we look at these
factors of these cases. In these cases, the Government has
been taking a very measured approach. I think there are
many people, particularly people who, maybe until
recently -- you know, it's interesting to see sort of how
people change their minds about things. Until recently,
there was not quite the same feelings about detention and
incarceration as there are today.

But I stand today, you know, looking at the
literature and cases before me, and I see that the
Government is quite judicious in whether they're asking for
detention. And that has to inure to their credit. Where
they rarely ask for detention, in the instances that they
do, I really have to dig deep and think that: Is this
something that we're taking the Government as -- they're
going by proffer, so we take them at their word -- that they
think there are conditions here that are unique? And that's
what the Government is saying.

So, far from the 77 percent, from my just rough
estimate, it's certainly far less than 50 percent of cases,
maybe even less than a quarter of cases where the Government
has asked for detention in these matters. So when they do
ask for detention, I think they're making a more powerful

claim.
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I will now go through the four factors. Before I
do, I think one thing I will note is, to me, the
Government's argument is that you have to boil it down.
Right? What is it? And at bottom, to me, is that this is
what the Government says: On Page 7 of their brief, they
say: If the Defendant denies the authority of the lawfully
elected President of the United States, whose election was
certified by the Congress of the United States, certainly he
would deny the authority of judicial officers.

So that, to me, appears to be the Government's
argument, is they believe that the Defendant does not --

[Unidentified voice coming over the video feed.]

THE COURTROOM DEPUTY: Your Honor, I'm not sure
where that is coming from.

THE COURT: We have your box lighting up,

Ms. Schuck, but I don't know if that's you there.

THE COURTROOM DEPUTY: I don't think that's her.
I don't know where that's coming from.

THE COURT: I see everyone else is muted.

Ms. Schuck, are you there? Did you hear that?

THE PRETRIAL SERVICES OFFICER: I didn't hear
anything, your Honor. And I'm muted.

THE COURT: Got it. I don't know why it's going
back to you.

Ms. Lavigne-Rhodes, can you just go ahead and
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mute? And perhaps her line is getting crossed. If we need
to, we'll just unmute Ms. Schuck.

THE COURTROOM DEPUTY: Yes. We'll see if that
helps.

THE COURT: Okay. We'll continue.

So, as I said, it appears to me that the
Government's main argument is that they believe that the
Defendant does not believe essentially in the legitimacy of
the current democratic government and that, because of that,
how can I fashion conditions or a combination of conditions
of release that I can reasonably believe that he will follow
if he does not believe in the authority of the people who
are in fact the duly elected and lawfully authorized
government? So that seems to me to be their argument.

You know, they say the Defendant has no ties to
the Washington, DC, community; they make the other arguments
that we frequently see. But that is not -- I don't think
that is what distinguishes, as it appears to me, this case
from the other Capitol riot cases.

What it appears to me to be is that --

Ms. Iyengar, is that a fair statement, do you think? I
mean, it's in your brief. But that is perhaps your
argument. Is that fair?

MS. IYENGAR: Yeah. Well, I think that's

definitely a big part of the heart of our argument. I think
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that in addition to, you know, the statements that were made
and then the fact that he was subsequently arrested outside
of the Capitol Building when he returned to the District.
All of that taken together is really the heart of our
argument.

THE COURT: Thank you, Ms. Iyengar.

So those are the four factors.

Mr. Griffin, I don't like to -- my colleagues and
everyone does think differently. I will tell you up front
that, unfortunately, I don't find that release is
appropriate in this instance. And I will describe why.
I'll make a record. And you have the opportunity after you
hear my findings, as I said, to speak to your lawyer and
consider how you want to go forward in terms of seeking any
reconsideration either now, with me, or at times later with
the Chief Judge.

And so I will start with the nature and
circumstances of the offense. The Chief Judge in the
Barnett case described what I think I have mentioned in
previous hearings, is that it's difficult to square the
title of these offenses and the punishment with the nature
of the offense.

The nature of the offense, you know, is something
that is quite [indiscernible]. It is what appears to be,

based on, again, the Government's proffer -- that's all I
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can go by here -- is that this was an organized attempt to
stop the lawful administration of the democratic process.

The Defendant states in his opposition that he
believes that in fact even the elements of the crime might
not be met, because he states that there's no indication, on
Page 4 into Page 5 -- there's no indication that the
Defendant knew that the Capitol grounds was where a person
protected by the Secret Service was or would be temporarily
visiting.

I think that that of many things is beyond
implausible. The Defendant and the people who came to march
on the Capitol on January 6th were well aware. They did not
choose that date randomly. It was because it was when the
Electoral College was being certified and when the
transition of power was at its crescendo. The Vice
President was there and members of Congress were there, all
of whom certainly are known to be protected by the Secret
Service.

So the nature of this offense is not a simple
misdemeanor offense. This is an offense that at bottom was
an attempt to stop democracy from moving forward because
people were unhappy about the results of an election.

Now, that -- they have a right to be unhappy.

They have First Amendment rights. And Mr. Smith, I think,

has provided compelling reasons we have to consider and
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protect those First Amendment rights. That's absolutely the
case.

However, what is not the case is that people can
forcibly enter grounds where that process is ongoing and
attempt to stop it.

I think Ms. Iyengar is right that we do look to
the Defendant's statements, not the dangerousness or not to
limit his First Amendment rights. We would never want to
chill that. However, we do have to try to understand his
state of mind and understand if he's in a state of mind
where he could respect conditions or a combination of
conditions that I would impose.

Mr. Griffin states -- his counsel states on
Mr. Griffin's behalf he was never asked to leave the area by
police and he exited peacefully.

This is not a crime in which you get to enter as
far into the Capitol grounds as you like until you're told
not to. And if you're doing it politely, that makes it no
less of a crime. That is a crime. It's not the means by
which you enter; it's the very fact that you entered. These
are sacred institution of our nation, and they are not ones
in which people can just come either in a mob or singularly
go in and enter those areas without permission.

The statements in particular I think are

concerning because -- and I will discount -- the Government
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in its detention memorandum raises what they describe as
inflammatory, racist advocacy. I don't think that's
relevant, frankly, at all here. The Defendant is entirely
within his rights to think any of those things that he wants
to.

However, where I have to then focus is on the
nature of the charged offense, which is the entering
unlawfully of the Capitol. And then I look at the language
that the Defendant used previously and afterwards. There is
evidence proffered by the Government that the Defendant
stated, quote, "The only good Democrat is a dead Democrat,"
unquote, before then saying afterwards that he didn't intend
that physically.

I don't give credit to that "I'm just saying that,
is all." You don't get to say something and then say, "But
I didn't really mean it," because why did you say it, then?
Words do matter. Words matter; facts matter. Here we are,
and we have to measure the Defendant by the statements that
he says.

He did say -- I think that Mr. Smith provided some
context as to why he said he was going to exercise his
Second Amendment rights and carry his firearms back here,
because his life feels threatened. 1In no way is that
acceptable. People need to -- mobs are not okay on either

end. People should never be threatened. Their families
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should never be threatened. People should not be in a
situation where they feel they have to turn to firearms
because they're not safe. That is unacceptable.

And so I understand and empathize, I think, why
the Defendant felt that way. However, that is not the
statements that are of primary concern to me. My primary
concern is that the Defendant said in a video that he posted
after the incident on January 6th that if the Second
Amendment rally on those same steps -- if that happened,
that's going to be, quote, "a sad day, because there's going
to be blood running out of that building. But at the end of
the day, you mark my word, we will plant our flag on the
desk of Nancy Pelosi."

So I see again statements that to me indicate what
the Government has said, i1is that the Defendant's statements
show that he does not believe that this in fact was a lawful
government that's been in place.

You know, he makes statements about the election
being stolen by Chinese entities. I don't know what that
means. I know that [indiscernible] the Ellipse cases, when
someone makes statements like this that are demonstrably
false and that are in no way accurate that what happens is
we consider whether or not a person needs a mental health
evaluation. And this is no different than people not

believing facts or science. Simply, I have to evaluate
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whether or not that person's competent.

Here, I believe the Defendant is competent.
Unfortunately, this is a prevailing, apparently, idea,
although false. And so I don't think that he has competency
issues. Of course, if there were any, I know the Government
and Mr. Smith would explore it.

But I go back to the nature and circumstances of
the offense. Given those statements about the lack of
belief or faith that the Defendant has in this -- in the
United States government as it sits today, I don't
believe -- I look at essentially the nature of that offense.
And I think the nature of that offense is that he's
demonstrated that he believes that violence is on the table
and that the nature of the offense is exactly what it says
it was: This was an attempt to overthrow the government
because he did not believe it was legitimate.

The next factor is the weight of the evidence.

The weight of the evidence in this case is strong.

Mr. Smith makes what I think is fair arguments to mitigate
the seriousness of it: that there's no evidence that he did
go into the building, that he did not harm any police
officers. There's no indication of that and the Government
has not proffered that. So I can only go by what the
Government says.

But the Government did proffer that there's wvideo,
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and he also made admissions, that he went past the
barricade. This is not an optional sort of thing. When
there is a barricade up, you are not permitted to go
forward. That is not for the Defendant's choice; that's not
for anyone's choice; it's not for my choice. We all live in
a system of rules where we have to follow them. And if we
don't, there are consequences. Here, there's a consequence.
It is gquite clear.

I don't think any reasonable person could believe
that, frankly, climbing up on the steps of the Capitol
Building and getting where the Defendant did was in any way
lawfully permissible. I think the Defendant even understood
that it wasn't, but he felt that he was justified because he
thought that what he was doing was for a greater good.
Unfortunately, that is not the way that our democracy works.
You do not get to take things into your own hands. You have
to follow the lawful process, Jjust like everyone else.
People have lost elections before and we did not have this
sort of response.

So I think the weight of the evidence is strong in
favor of detention as to the first factor.

I think the history and characteristics of the
Defendant -- I've already covered it -- his statements
demonstrate to me a lack of faith and belief in the

legitimacy of this government. Therefore, while his lack of
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criminal history, or very minimal, you know, really minor
offenses that aren't ones one would normally consider, I
think those things inure to his benefit.

And it inures to his benefit the fact that he is
an elected representative. He of all people understands the
beauty of the American democracy, the beauty of citizens
getting together and choosing who they want to represent
them and then living by the consequences of those elections.
He knows better than anybody.

And I credit him for his public service, and it's
something that should be commended. However, in this
instance, the flip side, or these statements that he makes
about blood running out of the Capitol, threats to members
of Congress, stating that the only good Democrat is a dead
Democrat, all of those things demonstrate to me a history
and characteristics that warrant in favor of detention.

That is -- and the circumstances of this offense,
the unlawful entry into the Capitol Building, all of those
things demonstrate to me that his history and
characteristics are one where detention is required, because
there's no combination of conditions that will cause him to
follow through on my orders. I don't believe that he will
believe that those orders are to be respected or followed.

Finally, as to dangerousness, I think I've already

covered that. It's dangerousness of flight risk. I think
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that the reason is that which we've already stated, that
there is a real risk of flight. You know, I don't think the
Defendant will follow through on my conditions if he
believes that I am part of this machine of the democratic
process or for whatever reason. I don't know. I can't
fathom what it is, because these are not logical thoughts
based in fact. I don't know.

But all I can do is go on the facts of what his
actions have been, what his statements have been afterwards.
And, far from remorse, he doubled down and continued to
believe that what happened on January 6th was appropriate
and in fact that another rally was needed, and a rally that
only exponentially increased in terms of violence: his
Second Amendment rights.

Defense counsel says: Well, that rally never
happened. But the rally never happened because of the
intervention of the National Guard. I mean, Washington, DC,
was clearly a fortress, so it could not happen. It was a
factual impossibility. But that does not mean that the
Defendant did not still make statements that that was what
he wanted to do. So for those reasons, I think there is a
danger.

I would note for the record I believe obstruction
of justice is —-- rarely is appropriate. But here, it is

also again a basis for detention, where a Defendant does not
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believe in the rule of law and makes threats to people who
are inside the Capitol Building, presumably, or victims of
his crime. I don't see how there is anything other than
obstruction. Presumably, the people in the building that he
tried and cajole people to invade could be witnesses in this
matter. And after, he was -- after the event happened, he
continued to make threats against them. That sounds to me
like a classic threatening of a witness.

So I think obstruction -- I don't need to fall
back on that, but I do think for the record that that is a
basis for detention.

So for all of those reasons, I believe detention
is appropriate, as I stated. You have the opportunity to
appeal that to Chief Judge Howell, that finding.

Ms. Iyengar, do we have a date for a preliminary
hearing in this matter?

MS. IYENGAR: We have not agreed upon a date yet.

THE COURT: Do you want to just -- the Defendant
was —-- do you want to say the date that he was let go, by
the arrest date, or the initial appearance? What date do
you want to go by, Ms. Iyengar? Why don't we start with
that.

MS. IYENGAR: If we can go by the initial
appearance date, that would be our preference.

THE COURT: Mr. Smith, you tell me. Do you
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plan -- where do you believe we should go by? And when are
you hoping to have the preliminary hearing, if you are
seeking to have one now or if you're seeking to continue
this and speak to the Government? Why don't you let me know
what you want to do.

MR. DAVID SMITH: I mean, your Honor, are you
prepared to have the preliminary hearing right now? Is that
what you're saying?

THE COURT: No. The Government has asked for the
14 days, so I'm happy to give the Government 14 days. The
Defendant was arrested --

Ms. Iyengar, when was the Defendant arrested?

MS. IYENGAR: On --

THE DEFENDANT: On the 17th.

MS. IYENGAR: On the 17th.

THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Griffin.

So he was not able to have his initial appearance
until this date. 1I've made a record as to the reasons why.
The Government has asked for its 14 days from today, so
they've asked to go to the 15th, Mr. Smith. Can you let me
know if you want to do the preliminary hearing then or if
you're asking for before then? Obviously, you'll need time
to get discovery and things like that together.

Mr. Griffin, the next hearing will be a

preliminary hearing. That's where the Government has to
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actually put on witnesses. They can't just go by proffer.
They have to come and you get to put them to their paces,
cross-examine their witnesses.

And throughout all of this, I want to remind you
that the Constitution guarantees you a right to innocence,
which you do have, which means that myself and any district
judge who takes this matter believes you're innocent,
because the law states that. Nothing that comes today --
those are simply detention decisions. That's nothing a jury
would ever know and that's nothing that ever factors into a
judge's analysis as to whether or not you are guilty or
innocent, because we believe you are innocent. The law says
that.

Mr. Smith, when can we have the preliminary
hearing, should you seek to have it? Would you like
additional time to get discovery and/or time to speak to
Ms. Iyengar about the facts of the case?

MR. DAVID SMITH: Well, could I ask that
Mr. Griffin be heard right now to let me and yourself know
what --

THE COURT: Why don't we put you in a breakout
room so that you can speak to him, because I think that
would be better. I don't want to put him on the spot and
then get him implicated in his right to silence.

So, Ms. Lavigne-Rhodes, can you put the Defendant
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and both Mr. Smiths into a breakout room?

THE COURTROOM DEPUTY: Absolutely, your Honor.

THE COURT: So we'll be here, Mr. Smith. We'll
have our camera off. But you let us know when you're ready.
MR. DAVID SMITH: Thank you, your Honor.

(Thereupon a recess was taken, after which the
following proceedings were had:)

THE COURTROOM DEPUTY: Re-calling Magistrate Case
21-92, the United States of America versus Couy Griffin.

THE COURT: Mr. Smith, I take it that hopefully it
was helpful for you to have an opportunity to speak with
your client.

Rule 5.1 indicates that it's 14 days from the
initial appearance. So 14 days the Government has by right.
So the earliest we could have our preliminary hearing is
February 15th. Obviously, we could set a status hearing for
that day and a preliminary hearing, jointly, and then you
can decide, you know, as to that date if that's what you
want or 1f you'd like to go longer.

So I'd like to hear from you what the Defendant
would like to do.

MR. NICHOLAS SMITH: Yes, your Honor. This is
Nicholas Smith. I'll address both questions. Good
afternoon.

THE COURT: Good afternoon, Mr. Smith.
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MR. NICHOLAS SMITH: Okay. So we'd like February
8th, actually, seven days, for the preliminary hearing.
And --

MR. DAVID SMITH: Excuse me a second.

The Judge just informed us that the Government has
14 days as a right.

MR. NICHOLAS SMITH: I understand.

So our request after having met with Mr. Griffin
is to ask for this.

And the second thing we'd like to note are a
couple of -- we'd like to address some of the bases for
today's decision, just to make --

THE COURT: Absolutely. Yes. Can we work
backwards and first talk about the date? And then let's
come back to that.

MR. NICHOLAS SMITH: Sure.

THE COURT: As I understand it, Ms. Iyengar, I'm
looking at -- I'll go back to you. It states under Rule 5.1
that the magistrate judge must hold the preliminary hearing
within a reasonable time but no later than 14 days after the
initial appearance if the Defendant is in custody. So I
understand the law to indicate that by right you can go up
to 14 days. That does not mean you have to.

I want to confirm. I understand the Defendant's

request. He is in custody. He's been in custody for a

Plaintiffs' Exhibit 9 - Page 44 of 64




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

45

little while. I want to confirm whether or not you can have
a preliminary hearing on the 8th.

Additionally, I want to know if there's any
indication that you have a grand jury to indict the case
before then, in which case this might moot all of this. So
any information you can share with us would be helpful.

MS. IYENGAR: Sure.

So I think we don't have any issue with having the
hearing on the 8th. Because this is a misdemeanor and we
would just have to file an information, I think we can most
likely get that done before the 8th.

THE COURT: Great. Let's start with that. Let's
set the preliminary hearing. Mr. Nicholas Smith has made
the request on behalf of the Defendant.

Ms. Lavigne-Rhodes, can you put on my calendar for
February 8th a preliminary hearing?

And let's set it for, should we say, Mr. Smith, if
it's all right with you, how about 1:30? 1Is that good?

MR. NICHOLAS SMITH: Yes. That's good.

MR. DAVID SMITH: That's fine. Yes.

THE COURT: So that works for both Mr. Smiths.

Ms. Iyengar, does that work for you?

MS. IYENGAR: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: So, Mr. Griffin, we're going to go

ahead, as we talked about, with that preliminary hearing.
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That's the hearing where you get to -- your lawyers get to
examine witnesses from the Government. They have to prove
probable cause that you committed the crimes that they've
alleged. They cannot simply rest on an affidavit from an
affiant who does not appear by facts that the Government
states. They actually have to get up there and do the work
that the Constitution requires them to do.

And so now you've heard also from the Government
that they can charge your case before that. If they do,
then the case will be assigned to a district judge. That's
who you would go to before in a trial, likely. Because it
is a misdemeanor, it can go to the magistrate judges by
consent. In fact, many of them may do that. Just because I
am presiding today does not mean it will go to me. It will
go to any one judge of the magistrate judges randomly
assigned. That ultimately is something you will speak to
your counsel about and make those decisions. But if they
formally charge the case, there will be no preliminary
hearing.

So, Mr. Nicholas Smith, now I'm happy to come back
to hear anything that you want to add regarding my findings
as to detention.

MR. NICHOLAS SMITH: Yes. Thank you, your Honor.

And we understand that the Court has made its

decision. But we thought it might still be useful to the
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Court not just for the sake of the record, but just to
address a couple of the points, because this whole process
has been pretty quick. There was no reply brief.

So the first point is that your Honor mentioned
that, to boil down the Government's position for detention,
it's that Mr. Griffin has a fundamental belief that -- in
the illegitimacy of the current government. And there is
some support in the Government's proffer and its papers that
Mr. Griffin questioned the outcome of the election.

We think the relevant question here is whether
there's any evidence or proffer that Mr. Griffin has no
respect for or does not believe in the legitimacy of you,
your Honor, in the Court. There is nothing in the record,
if your Honor searches it, and in the Government's proffer
to suggest that he does not have respect for the Court, that
he wouldn't return at the appropriate opportunity. There's
nothing in the record to suggest that he doesn't have
respect for the judiciary. I think, if anything, it might
be the opposite in the record.

The second point your Honor made is that this is
not merely a trespass case, this is not merely a misdemeanor
case, but that this is an organized attempt to overthrow the
government.

Your Honor, there's no charge or allegation in the

charging statement that this was an organized attempt to
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overthrow the government on the part of this Defendant's
behalf. So our position would be that that sort of surmises
based on public statements or the public record and would
not be a part of the Government's proffer or a part of the
Government's charging statement and would not be a basis for
denying detention.

Your Honor pointed out that in our bail
submission, the Defendant suggests that he may have not had
the relevant mens rea to commit the crime. And your Honor
suggested that that does not seem to be the case, based on
the Government's proffer.

Mr. Griffin pointed out in his bail submission of
what the relevant elements of the offense are under 1752 (c).
And those include knowledge that the area, the restricted
area in which he entered, was one of three very narrowly
defined restricted areas, including the White House, which
is not present; the Vice President residence, which is not
present here; and some area that's designated as an area
containing an event of special significance.

The Government has alleged that the area that
Mr. Griffin entered on July 6th was an area of special
significance or was so designated by any governmental
entity. So what the Government [indiscernible] is an area
in which the Defendant knew that a person with Secret

Service protection would be at the time he entered the area.
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It's not a statement of fact. The charging

statement does not make this allegation, your Honor. So

it's not an evidence of the Defendant's contempt of Court or

belief in the illegitimacy of government to point out what
the elements of the offense are. And they haven't been
fully alleged.

As for the statement that there would be blood
coming out of the Capitol, I'm glad your Honor brought this
up, because this is a very important point in the
Government's brief. The Government does accurately quote
Mr. Griffin's statement at one point that if there was a
Second Amendment rally at some indefinite time, there would
be blood from the Capitol.

We have no reason to believe right now that that
statement is inaccurate.

But, your Honor, the Government then strings that
statement together with a promise that Mr. Griffin is
returning to the Capitol to pursue that end. And there's
just no evidence in the record to support that. And I

think, your Honor, it's a little bit of an inappropriate

insinuation without any evidence to suggest that Mr. Griffin

is making a vow to return to the Capitol to shed blood when

there is no evidence to support that.

Your Honor, there's one more point that I think is

really important here, which is the Lemon case. We raised
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the DC Circuit case of United States versus Lemon. I don't
have the citation right here handy. But the DC Circuit is
pretty clear that statements that are First
Amendment-protected speech and especially core political
speech simply can't be the basis for the denial of bail.
The statement's pretty unequivocal.

And if we look at the law and citation and the
First Amendment protections for incitement, the statement
about blood or the caveated statements about Democrats
are —-- they just clearly fall within First Amendment
protection.

So, you know, if we're kind of left without
anything in the record to suggest [indiscernible] apart from
those statements, there really isn't any element of the
Government's proffer that would suggest Mr. Griffin is not
going to show up.

And so, you know, 1if it's possible, we'd like to
discuss those points with your Honor, because we don't think
they're included in the Government's proffer. But we
recognize that your Honor's made a decision.

THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Smith.

I think, again, you and your co-counsel have
really put a lot of thought into these issues and I think
you have put together both a legally interesting, but also a

factually compelling, case.
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I'll respond to them. I think that at this point
my decision remains the same; and I think that the
appropriate remedy, if you feel that this record reflects
that you want to have another person make a decision on
this, is to take it up with the Chief Judge.

I think I'11l start with your first point, that the
Court is different than the executive branch and that the
Defendant respects the judiciary.

You know, I have to go by the proffer. And so I
take what you say as fact and I take what the Government
says as fact as well.

What they do is you look at a symptom. If there
are enough symptoms, it's part of a disease. So here, in
this instance, they're saying there is one strong indication
that the Defendant does not believe in the legitimacy of the
government. Right? Not just narrowly the executive.

Right? It is difficult to parse out there.
In addition to which, the fact that the Defendant,

they allege, went to the Capitol indicates at least from my

perspective -- I have to make logical inferences from the
facts -- that two-thirds of the government the Defendant
does not have -- does not believe is acting lawfully or
legitimately.

And so the Government states that their conclusion

is: Why would the Defendant then, to the third branch of
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the government, once it starts doing things that the
Defendant does not agree with or believe in, come to any
different conclusion than he did with the first two branches
of the government, that when they do not listen or do what
he views to be right that he unilaterally gets to decide
what is and is not right and go forward and make his own
decisions?

So I agree that he has not stated anything
explicitly that he has no lack of faith or belief in the
judiciary. But implicitly, I think a logical inference is
that when someone tries to participate in what the
Government describes as an insurrection, that he does not
believe in the legitimacy of the government. I think that
it's hard to believe how parts of the government can be
quarantined from that disease. It's hard for me to
understand how the Defendant would not view that we are
just -- we, the Court, aren't part and parcel of the
problem -- that does not exist, for the record, again -- but
that in his mind does.

So for that reason, I think that still applies in
my mind, that how can I believe that there are conditions or
a combination of conditions that will function when he does
not believe in the people that are creating and promulgating
those rules?

You indicated there's no evidence that this was an
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organized attempt to overthrow the government.

I think that in this case, the Defendant's
statements are quite clear. You know, I don't have to look
to the simple reality of what occurred on January 6th. I
can carve out what is the noise that the Defendant might
feel like and people have said about it and look only to his
statements.

His statement indicates that he was dissatisfied
with what happened on January 6th, that that was an attempt
to stop the stealing of the election, which is demonstrably
false, not something that occurred and not something the
Court has considered, has not found that that has occurred;
yet he was so upset still on January 6th that he said he was
going to come back for a second bite at the apple.

So in my mind, it was very much an organized
attempt to overthrow the government, based on his
statements.

I look only to the facts as they are before me.
And as I see them, he was part of a concerted effort. You
know, he took a bullhorn. Now, granted, he took it to give
a prayer, which -- there's nothing wrong with that.
However, when there is a mob and you are part of that mob
and you get a bullhorn, it's hard to say you're not part of
what was going on. You were not some wallflower in an

otherwise large event. You were in the thick of things.
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And that's where he was: He was truly in the thick of

things.

You know, that goes to the third point. You said
that knowledge -- that the Government's proved knowledge
that [indiscernible] is of special significance. It's not

related to the legitimacy of the government.

I certainly agree that whether or not he believes
the government is legitimate is totally irrelevant as to
whether or not the Government has pled the elements of the
offense.

Now, I will note that this is not a hearing to
determine whether or not the Government has established
probable cause. You certainly can move to dismiss the
complaint. And that's something that could happen at the
preliminary hearing, is that you could demonstrate there was
not a sufficient basis to find by probable cause that the
crime occurred.

Yet it's of no matter; we should still consider it
if the Defendant is unlawfully held. Absolutely. Always.
We don't wait to do that. We do that now, because that is
the right thing to do, because it is always wrong to hold
someone inappropriately or detain them if justice does not
militate towards that, because it is so offensive to our
system of justice and our system of democracy, our legal

justice system, to detain people pretrial. It is only in
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the most extraordinary of circumstances.

So I very much [indiscernible] when you say that
the Government has not met its elements of the crime. I
find this frankly to be the weakest argument that you've
made, Mr. Smith. I think the other ones, some of them, are
quite compelling, thinking about the Lemon decision in
particular and your first argument. Here, I just can't get
my arms around it, Mr. Smith.

And so I don't want to go through a
back-and-forth. I'll just tell you how I ruled, and you're
welcome to file on the papers with me or with Chief Judge
Howell how, if anything else, he had knowledge that this
area is of special significance. That was the reason they
were there on January 6th at the very hour that the
Electoral College --

MR. NICHOLAS SMITH: Your Honor, I hate to
interrupt you; but just to be clear, the designation of
"special significance" under 1752 has to be made. And I
think it's a stipulation that has been made in this case.
So "special significance" is not colloquial; it's actually a
designation that's been made by some government entity. And
I think there's actually been reporting that there was some
[indiscernible] or anger that these events on the 6th had
not been so designated an event of special significance.

So that's the reason we're pointing that out, your
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Honor, not to show that the Defendant had knowledge that
this was an event of special significance, generally
speaking, but that the government in fact had not designated
this event as an event of special significance; and
therefore, 1752 (c) (1) (C) does not apply here on its face.

So I think that's the argument we're making, your
Honor.

So it appears that for the status of 1752(c) in
this case, the Government has to allege that Mr. Griffin had
the knowledge when he entered this area that an individual
protected by the Secret Service, who I understand is not
members of Congress, was present in the area where he
entered, your Honor.

So I don't think this --

THE COURT: I understood your argument.

MR. NICHOLAS SMITH: This is an issue that's not
really [indiscernible] on in the general allegations of
either the complaint or, you know, general understanding or
knowledge of the event that took place. 1I've never seen the
Government's position on how they [indiscernible] by the
statute. This is not a general argument about whether it's
appropriate to cross a barricade or whether there might be
some other infraction of DC law. This is a gquestion about
whether or not 1752 (c) has been satisfied.

And it's clear, I think, if your Honor looks at
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the charging statement, that there is no allegation that the
Defendant knew he entered an area that was covered by
1752 (c) (1) (A), (B) or (C).

So just to be absolutely clear, your Honor, that's
the argument we're making.

THE COURT: Understood.

I think, as I stated before, I'm not going to --

Ms. Iyengar, I don't need to hear from you.

I think if you want to brief these issues for the
preliminary hearing, that's totally fine. I think that
there's not case law that indicates the definition or, you
know, whether or not this is covered.

I understand you're saying it was not invoked as a
special event. I think the argument could be made by the
Government -- arguably, it's constructive -- but it is
irrelevant to me because, as I've indicated, I think that
there is no doubt in my mind, in fact, in anyone's mind,
that there was a person protected by the Secret Service who
was in that building, which is the Vice President of the
United States of America. It is well-known. In fact,
again, the reason for the protest was to disturb and stop
the Vice President from certifying the results of the
Electoral College.

So this is not something which normally is

relegated to a civics class that few people would know. 1In
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fact, it was an international news story.

So I think that there is a simple-enough basis in
fact from just mere common knowledge, let alone the
knowledge of, again, why was the Defendant there at that
date and time? It was by his own words to stop the Chinese
theft of the election. Again, I'm not sure what that means.
But as I understand from the Government it's his statements,
his words.

And so how would that stop [indiscernible] from
the Vice President, which again, it's true that there was no
inquiry upon the Defendant if he knew the Vice President was
protected by the Secret Service. But I think that is a
reasonable inference that can be made. The Government can
ask that, and I can order that, that there be judicial
notice taken of that. So I think that answers that.

In terms of the blood coming out of the Capitol, I
think you make the argument that that didn't happen. Right?
And that's great. I think we all agree that he did not
return. That is certainly something everyone agrees is to
his benefit.

However, I don't credit him for that. He said it
after. If before January 6th he said those things, it would
still be incredibly troubling during January 6th. But after
January 6th, he continued to make statements about what

would happen and how what happened on the 6th was -- you
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know, that the job was left undone. Right?

So in my mind, when he made those statements, as
inflammatory as they are, and considering the previous
statements he makes, to me the only reason he did not
return, I can infer -- and that's all I can ever do, 1is
infer from the facts -- is because the National Guard was
invoked, the Mayor brought and called for support from the
National Guard and it was then placed around the Capitol.

The reason that there was no Second Amendment
rally, as he indicated, was because it was physically
impossible. Half the bridges to Washington, DC, were
literally closed. People could not get in. The Metro was
shut down. This was a war zone. As such, the fortification
by the National Guard and by the government precluded any
such event from happening.

But I don't give him credit for that. He said
that he was going to do it. And again, that just
demonstrates a propensity for violence, because I'm not only
looking at violence; I'm looking at whether or not he
believes essentially in the rule of law. And my concern is
that, based on his statements and his actions, he's not
[indiscernible] the Lemon case. I'll leave it for the
pleadings.

I understand that you believe that this is core

political speech, being able to say the things that he said.
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I think Ms. Iyengar would [indiscernible] and
certainly plenty of people, that saying the only good
Democrat is a dead Democrat or the blood running out of the
Capitol Building, that that is not. There are limits on all
rights, on the First through the Tenth of the Amendments and
all that are in the Constitution, as many others.

That's in addition to his actions. So this is not
speech alone. Speech here motivates my understanding of
what his intent was. What was he trying to do on January
6th? And the Government alleges that this was an attempt to
overthrow the government, to stop the lawful progress of the
democratic process of which the founders had established.

And his statements seem to corroborate that he
viewed this as an illegitimate government that he had to
take by any means necessary, including violence, to stop,
which means to me, I believe, as there continue to be
conditions of release that require him to come and show up
before me, that he won't listen to those conditions because
he may ultimately decide that those conditions are part of a
flawed system that he must go by any means to overthrow and
disrupt.

And so for those reasons, I don't think this is
political speech. It is far from it. These are actions
that were taken that are far outside his First Amendment

rights.
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For those reasons, I would say I find that
detention is appropriate and we will have a preliminary
hearing on January 8th -- I'm sorry -- February 8th, as
discussed. And at that time, if you want to move to
dismiss, I would ask that you file pleadings beforehand in
terms of why you think the elements have not been met. I
think it would be helpful, frankly. Those are not well-trod
areas of law. There is a dearth of case law on much of
this. And I think that both Mr. Smiths make very
[indiscernible] legal arguments. And so it's an opportunity
to hear more about those.

And perhaps there will not be a finding of
probable cause. I don't know. We'll have to wait until we
get there.

Ms. Iyengar, anything from the Government's
perspective?

MS. IYENGAR: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Mr. -- I'll go back to Mr. Nicholas Smith,
although it looks like Mr. David Smith is going to speak.
Either one.

MR. DAVID SMITH: Judge, I just have a question
for you.

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. DAVID SMITH: I've never done a Zoom hearing
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before, believe it or not, in the court. I'd like to order
the transcript of this hearing. Can you --
THE COURT: Ms. Lavigne-Rhodes will follow up with

you offline. She can help you. Is that right,

Ms. Lavigne—-Rhodes?

THE COURTROOM DEPUTY: Absolutely.

THE COURT:

She's the best. She can do anything.

She'll follow up with you via email to confirm your ability

to get the rush transcript.

MR. DAVID

THE COURT:
yes. She's also my

MR. DAVID
her or email her?

THE COURT:
Mr. Smith.

MR. DAVID

soon as possible in

SMITH: TIs that your courtroom deputy?
She's my boss, my inspiration. But
courtroom deputy.

SMITH: Great. Okay. Should we call

She'll email you, if that's all right,

SMITH: Yes. We'd like to order it as

order to have it available for any

future court proceeding.

THE COURT:

I see the court reporter furiously

typing away. So I'll know that she will -- they'll be able

to coordinate your getting that, if not today, immediately.

MR. DAVID
THE COURT:

your end?

SMITH: Thank you so much.

Mr. Nicholas Smith, anything else from
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MR. NICHOLAS SMITH: Nothing else. Thank you for
the explanation, your Honor. Thank you.

THE COURT: Of course. Yes. Thank you both.

Thank you, everyone.

Mr. Griffin, as I said, I know this is obviously
not the result you were hoping to hear. But the legal
process will continue. You'll have your appeal. You'll
have the hearing upcoming. So we'll go forward with this
case and you'll continue, as I said, to be viewed to be
innocent because that is what you are under the eyes of the
law.

So thank you all. To the parties, thank you for
your briefing. Have a good evening.

MR. DAVID SMITH: Thank you.

(Proceedings concluded.)
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transcript of my stenographic notes, and is a full, true,
and complete transcript of the proceedings produced to the

best of my ability.

Dated this 2nd day of February, 2021.

/s/ Lisa Edwards, RDR, CRR

Official Court Reporter

United States District Court for the
District of Columbia

333 Constitution Avenue, NW, Room 6706

Washington, DC 20001
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